## THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR BY-LAW #14-2019

Being a by-law to adopt a Council Code of Conduct Policy

**WHEREAS** Section 11 of the *Municipal Act*, S.O. 2001, Chapter 25, as amended, authorizes municipalities to pass by-laws regarding Accountability and Transparency of the municipality and its operations and of its local boards and operations;

**AND WHEREAS** Section 223.2 of the *Municipal Act*, S.O. 2001, Chapter 25, as amended, authorizes a municipality to establish codes of conduct for members of Council of the municipality and of local boards of the municipality;

AND WHEREAS an Integrity Commissioner was appointed by By-law;

**AND WHEREAS** Council of the Corporation of the Township of Armour deems it necessary to repeal By-law #37-2016 to enact a Code of Conduct for Members of Council, Local Boards and Committee Members;

**NOW THEREFORE** the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Armour hereby enacts as follows:

- 1. That the Council Code of Conduct, Schedule "A" hereto, is hereby adopted and shall form part of this by-law.
- 2. That By-law #37-2016 be hereby repealed.
- 2. That this by-law shall come into effect upon its passing.

Read in its entirety, approved, signed and the seal of the Corporation affixed thereto and finally passed in open Council this 12<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2019.

Original signed by Bob MacPhail Robert MacPhail, Reeve

Original signed by John Theriault John Theriault, Clerk





SUBJECT: COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT

**POLICY** 

POLICY #: ADM-002

PAGE 1 of 19

#### **TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR**

# Code of Conduct for Members of Council and Local Boards

Schedule A to By-law #14-2019

#### **Table of Contents**

I – Preamble	. 3
II – Framework and Interpretation	. 3
III – Key Principles	. 4
RULE NO. 1 – APPLICATION	. 5
RULE NO. 2 – DEFINITIONS	. 5
RULE NO. 3 – GIFTS AND BENEFITS	. 6
RULE NO. 4 – REMUNERATION	. 7
RULE NO. 5 – CONFIDENTIALITY	. 8
RULE NO. 6 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST	. 9
RULE NO. 7 – USE OF MUNICIPAL PROPERTY, SERVICES, AND OTHER RESOURCES	. 9
RULE NO. 8 – IMPROPER USE OF INFLUENCE	10
RULE NO. 9 – BUSINESS RELATIONS	10
RULE NO. 10 – CONDUCT RESPECTING CURRENT AND PROSPECTIVE EMPLOYMENT	11
RULE NO. 11 – CONDUCT AT COUNCIL	11
RULE NO. 12 – CONDUCT RESPECTING STAFF	
RULE NO. 13 – DISCREDITABLE CONDUCT	12
RULE NO. 14 – TRANSPARENCY AND OPENNESS IN DECISION MAKING	12
RULE NO. 15 – FAILURE TO ADHERE TO COUNCIL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	
RULE NO. 16 – REPRISALS AND OBSTRUCTION	13
RULE NO. 17 – ACTING ON THE ADVICE OF THE INTEGRITY COMMISSIONER	13
RULE NO. 18 – COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT	13
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNATURE	14
Appendix "A" to the Code of Conduct Council-Staff Protocol	15

#### I – Preamble

Improving the quality of public administration and governance can be achieved by encouraging high standards of conduct on the part of all government officials. In particular, the public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from the Members that it elects to local government. In turn, adherence to these standards will protect and maintain the Township of Armour's reputation and integrity.

#### II – Framework and Interpretation

The *Code of Conduct* is to be given a broad, liberal interpretation in accordance with applicable legislation and the definitions set out herein. As a living document, the *Code of Conduct* will be brought forward for review when relevant legislation is amended and at other times when it is appropriate to ensure that it remains current and continues to be a useful guide to Council.

In particular, the *Code of Conduct* should be interpreted having regard to the key principles in Article III.

From time to time, additional commentary and examples may be added to this document and supplementary materials may be produced by the Integrity Commissioner as deemed appropriate.

Elected officials who are seeking clarification and who are provided with general advice by the Integrity Commissioner cannot rely upon that advice to the same extent as advice that is given based upon specific facts. Advice that is general in nature is subject to change when applied to specific facts that may not have been known at the time that the general advice was provided.

Members seeking clarification of any part of this *Code* should consult with the Integrity Commissioner.

This *Code of Conduct* operates along with, and as a supplement to, the existing statutes governing the conduct of Members. Four provincial statutes, in particular, govern the conduct of Members of Council:

- The Municipal Act;
- The Municipal Conflict of Interest Act;
- The Municipal Elections Act, 1996; and
- The Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

The Criminal Code of Canada also governs the conduct of Members of Council.

#### III – Key Principles

The key principles that underline the *Code of Conduct* are as follows:

- [a] Members of Council shall serve and be seen to serve their constituents in a conscientious and diligent manner;
- [b] Members of Council shall be committed to performing their functions with integrity and to avoid the improper use of the influence of their office, and conflicts of interests, both apparent and real;
- [c] Members of Council are expected to perform their duties in office and arrange their private affairs in a manner that promotes public confidence and will bear close public scrutiny; and
- [d] Members of Council shall seek to serve the public interest by upholding both the letter and the spirit of the laws and policies established by the Federal Parliament, Legislative Assembly of Ontario, and the Municipal Council.

Members of Council shall be required to sign a declaration to acknowledge that they are aware of the *Code of Conduct*, have read and understand their obligations under the *Code*, and that they will uphold it.

#### **RULE NO. 1 – APPLICATION**

- 1.1 Subject to Rule 1.3, this *Code of Conduct* applies to the Reeve and all Members of Council.
- 1.2 This *Code of Conduct* also applies to Council appointments to local boards as defined in section 1(1) of the *Municipal Act*, and to appointments to committees, agencies, boards, and commissions.
- 1.3 The provisions of the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act* also applies to local boards with decision-making power, as defined in that Act.
- 1.4 Where a Local Board as defined in section (1) of the *Municipal Act* has passed, by proper resolution, its own Code of Conduct for its Members, and there is a conflict between the provisions of the Code of the Local Board and this Code, the more stringent provision of the two shall apply.

#### **RULE NO. 2 – DEFINITIONS**

2.1 In this *Code of Conduct* and all schedules or appendices hereto, the following terms have the following meanings:

"conflict of interest" has the same meaning as in the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act;

"Municipality" means the Municipal Corporation of the Township of Armour;

In the *Code of Conduct*, the terms "child", "parent" and "spouse" have the same meaning as in the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act*;

"child" means a child born within or outside marriage and includes adopted children and a person whom a parent has demonstrated a settled intention to treat as a child of their family;

"member" means any person elected or appointed to Municipal Council, a committee of Municipal Council, or a local board or agency;

"parent" means a person who has demonstrated a settled intention to treat a child as a member of their family whether or not the person is the natural parent of the child; and

"spouse" means a person to whom the person is married or with whom the person is living in a conjugal relationship outside marriage.

#### **RULE NO. 3 – GIFTS AND BENEFITS**

- 3.1 No Member shall accept a commission, fee, advance, gift, gift certificate, bonus, reward, or personal benefit that is connected directly or indirectly with the performance of his or her duties of Office, unless permitted by the following exceptions:
  - [a] compensation authorized by law;
  - [b] such gifts or benefits that normally accompany the responsibilities of office and are received as an incident of protocol or social obligations;
  - [c] a political contribution otherwise reported under the Municipal Elections Act;
  - [d] services provided without compensation by persons volunteering their time;
  - [e] a suitable memento of a function honouring the Member;
  - [f] food, lodging, transportation, and entertainment provided by provincial, regional, and local governments or political subdivisions of them, by the Federal government or by a foreign government within a foreign country;
  - [g] food and beverages consumed at banquets, receptions or similar events, if:
    - i. attendance serves a legitimate business purpose
    - ii. the person extending the invitation or a representative of the organization is in attendance; and
    - iii. the value is reasonable and the invitation infrequent;
  - [h] communication to the offices of a Member, including subscriptions to newspapers and periodicals;
  - [i] a stipend from a board or commission that the Member serves on as a result of an appointment by Council;
  - [j] reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of office;
  - [k] reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred connected with municipal associations.
- 3.2 For the purposes of this *Code*, any commission, fee, advance, gift, gift certificate, bonus, reward, or personal benefit provided with the Member's knowledge to a Member's spouse, child, or parent, or to a Member's staff that is connected directly or indirectly to the performance of the Member's duties is deemed to be a gift to that Member.

#### Commentary

- [1] Gifts and benefits are often received by Members in the course of their duties. These "perks" can be signs of respect and admiration for the Member, but can also be seen as instruments of influence or manipulation. This provision of the Code prohibits the acceptance of gifts that would, to a reasonable Member of the public, appear to be in gratitude for influence, to induce influence, or otherwise to go beyond the necessary and appropriate public functions involved.
- [2] Personal integrity and sound business practices require that relationships with developers, vendors, contractors, and any other party doing business with the Municipality be such that no Member is perceived as showing favouritism or bias.
- [3] Any doubts about the propriety of a gift should be resolved in favour of not accepting it or not keeping it. It may be helpful to consult with the Integrity Commissioner when a Member chooses to decline a gift, as well as when a recipient may opt to keep a gift.

- 3.3 Each Member is individually accountable to the public and shall keep a list of all gifts and benefits received from individuals, firms, or associations, with estimated values, in their offices for review by the Integrity Commissioner in the event of a complaint.
- In cases of categories (b), (e), (f), (g), and (h), if the value of the gift or benefit exceeds \$300.00, or if the total value received from any one source during the course of a calendar year exceeds \$300.00, the Member shall file a disclosure statement with the Integrity Commissioner within 30 days of receipt of the gift or reaching the annual limit.
- 3.5 The disclosure statement must indicate:
  - 1. the nature of the gift or benefit;
  - 2. its source and date of receipt;
  - 3. its estimated value;
  - 4. what the recipient intends to do with any gift; and
  - 5. whether any gift will at any point be left with the Municipality.
- 3.6 Any disclosure statement is a matter of public record.
- 3.7 On receiving disclosure statements, the Integrity Commissioner shall examine it to ascertain whether the receipt of the gift or benefit might, in their opinion, create a conflict between a private interest and the public duty of a Member. In the event that the Integrity Commissioner makes the preliminary determination, they shall call upon the Member to justify receipt of the gift or benefit.
- 3.8 Should the Integrity Commissioner determine that receipt was inappropriate, he or she may direct the Member to return the gift, reimburse the donor for the value of any gift or benefit already consumed, forfeit the gift, or remit the value of any gift or benefit already consumed to the Municipality.
- 3.9 Except in the case of category (f), a Member may not accept a gift or benefit worth in excess of \$500.00 or gifts and benefits from one source during a calendar year worth in excess of \$500.00.

#### **RULE NO. 4 – REMUNERATION**

4.0 Every Councillor shall, on an annual basis, publicly disclose all remuneration paid to him or her as a result of being elected as a Member of Council, including all amounts earned in connection with sitting on any and all Agencies, Boards, Commissions, and Council Committees to which they are appointed by virtue of being Members of Council.

#### **RULE NO. 5 – CONFIDENTIALITY**

- 5.1 No Member shall disclose or release by any means to any member of the public, any confidential information acquired by virtue of their office, in either oral or written form, except when required by law or authorized by Council to do so. Nor shall any Member permit any persons other than those who are entitled thereto to have access to confidential information.
- 5.2 No Member shall use confidential information for personal or private gain, or for the gain of relatives or any person or corporation.
- 5.3 Members should not access or attempt to gain access to confidential information in the custody of the Municipality unless it is necessary for the performance of their duties and not prohibited by Council policy.
- 5.4. Pursuant to the *Procedure By-Law*, a matter that has been discussed at an *in-camera* (closed) meeting remains confidential. No Member shall disclose the content of any such matter, or the substance of deliberations, of the *in-camera* meeting until the Council or committee, local board or agency discusses the information at a meeting that is open to the public or releases the information to the public.
- 5.5 Pursuant to the *Municipal Act*, information that concerns personnel, labour relations, litigation, property acquisitions, the security of the property of the Municipality or a local board, and matters authorized in other legislation shall remain confidential. For the purposes of the *Code of Conduct*, "confidential information" also includes this type of information.

#### **Commentary**

- [1] Confidential information includes information in the possession of the Municipality that the Municipality is either prohibited from disclosing, or is required to refuse to disclose, under the *Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* ("MFIPPA"), or other legislation. Generally, MFIPPA restricts or prohibits disclosure of information received in confidence from third parties of a corporate, commercial, scientific or technical nature, information that is personal, and information that is subject to solicitor-client privilege.
- [2] The following is a non-exhaustive list of examples of the types of information that a Member must keep confidential:
  - a. items under litigation, negotiation, or personnel matters;
  - b. information that infringes on the rights of others (i.e. sources of complaints where the identity of a complainant is given in confidence);
  - c. unit pricing pertaining to lump-sum contracts, tenders, or requests for proposal;
  - d. information deemed to be "personal information" under the *Municipal*

Conflict of Interest Act; and

e. statistical data required by law not to be released (i.e. certain census or assessment data).

#### **RULE NO. 6 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

- 6.1 Members are bound by the *Municipal Conflict of Interest* Act and the *Procedure By-law* to identify and disclose any pecuniary interest in any item or matter before the Council or any Standing Committee or other committees of Council.
- 6.2 Members shall not participate in activities that grant, or appear to grant, any special consideration, treatment, or advantage to an individual which is not applicable to every other individual member of the public.
- 6.3 Members of Council may seek conflict of interest advice, including a written opinion, from the Integrity Commissioner, as per the *Code of Conduct*. However, this will not provide immunity in any proceeding in a court of law brought pursuant to the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act*.
- 6.4 Members shall not use their positions to further their private interests, nor shall they vote on any issue at Council or committee that puts them in a real or apparent conflict with their personal finances. They shall declare their conflict and recuse themselves.
- 6.5 Members of Council shall take all necessary steps to avoid preferential treatment or the appearance of preferential treatment for friends or family. Members shall recuse themselves from matters that pose a conflict with the finances of their spouses, parents, or children.
- 6.6 Members of Council shall not concurrently accept employment by an outside interest that is either incompatible with or in conflict with their official duties.

#### **Commentary**

[1] Members of Council are governed by the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act* and in the event a complaint under the Act is filed with the Court, the provisions of that statute take precedence over any authority given to the Integrity Commissioner to receive or investigate complaints regarding the alleged contraventions under the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act*.

#### RULE NO. 7 – USE OF MUNICIPAL PROPERTY, SERVICES, AND OTHER RESOURCES

7.1 No Member of Council should use, or permit the use of municipal land, facilities, equipment, supplies, services, staff, or other resources for activities other than the business of the Corporation.

#### **Commentary**

- [1] "Other resources" in Rule 7.1 can include, but are not limited to, Municipal-owned materials, websites, and Councillors' budgets.
- 7.2 No Member should obtain financial gain from the use or sale of Municipal-developed intellectual property, computer programs, technical innovations, or other items capable of being patented, since all property remains exclusively that of the Municipality.

#### **RULE NO. 8 – IMPROPER USE OF INFLUENCE**

- 8.1 No Member of Council shall use the influence of their office for any purpose other than the exercise of their official duties.
- 8.2 Members shall not hold out of the prospect or promise of future advantage through a Member's supposed influence within Council in return for present action or inaction.

#### **Commentary**

- [1] Examples of prohibited conduct are the use of one's status as a Member of Council to improperly influence the decision of another person to the private advantage of oneself, or one's parents, children, spouse, staff members, friends, or associates (business or otherwise).
- [2] This includes attempts to secure preferential treatment beyond activities in which Members normally engage on behalf of their constituents as part of their official duties.
- [3] For the purpose of this Code, "private advantage" does not include a matter:
  - [a] that is of a general application;
  - [b] that affects a Member of Council, their parents, children, spouse, staff members, friends, or associates as one of a broad class or persons; or
  - [c] that concerns the remuneration or benefits of a Member of Council in his or her capacity as a Member.

#### **RULE NO. 9 – BUSINESS RELATIONS**

- 9.1 No Member shall act as a paid agent before Council, its committees, or an agency, board, or commission of the Municipality except in compliance with the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act*.
- 9.2 A Member shall not refer a third party to a person, partnership, or corporation in exchange for payment or other personal benefit.

9.3 No Member shall borrow money from any person who regularly does business with the Municipality unless such person is an institution or company regulated under the *Bank Act*, SC 1991, c 46.

#### **RULE NO. 10 – CONDUCT RESPECTING CURRENT AND PROSPECTIVE EMPLOYMENT**

10.1 No Member shall allow the prospect of their future employment by a person or entity to affect the performance of their duties to the Municipality.

#### **RULE NO. 11 – CONDUCT AT COUNCIL**

11.1 Members shall conduct themselves with decorum at Council in accordance with the provisions of the *Procedure By-Law*.

#### **RULE NO. 12 – CONDUCT RESPECTING STAFF**

- 12.1 No Member shall use, or attempt to use, their authority or influence for the purpose of intimidating, threatening, coercing, commanding, or influencing any staff member with the intent of interfering with that person's duties, including the duty to disclose improper activities.
- 12.2 Members shall be respectful of the role of Municipal staff to advise based on political neutrality and objectivity and without undue influence from any individual Member or faction of Council. Accordingly, no Member shall maliciously or falsely injure the professional or ethical reputation, or the prospects or practice of staff, and all Members shall show respect for the professional capacities of the staff of the Municipality.
- 12.3 No Member shall compel staff to engage in partisan political activities or subject staff to threats or discrimination for their refusal to engage in such activities.
- 12.4 Only Council as a whole has the authority to approve budget, policy, committee processes, and other such matters. Accordingly, Members shall direct requests outside of Council-approved budget, process, or policy to the appropriate committee of Council.

#### Commentary

- [1] Under the direction of the Clerk, staff serves the Council as a whole, and the combined interests of all Members as evidenced through the decision of Council.
- [2] In practical terms, there are distinct and specialized roles carried out by Council as a whole and by Members when performing other roles. The key requirement of these roles are captured in Appendix "A" to the *Code of Conduct* and include dealing with the constituents and the general public, participating as Council Committee Members, participating as Chairs of Council Committees, and participating as Council representatives on agencies, boards, commissions, and other bodies. Similarly, there are distinct and specialized roles expected of Municipal staff in both the carrying out of their responsibilities and in dealing with Council.

#### **RULE NO. 13 – DISCREDITABLE CONDUCT**

13.1 All Members of Council have a duty to treat Members of the public, one another, and staff appropriately and without abuse, bullying, or intimidation, and to ensure that their work environment is free from discrimination and harassment.

#### Commentary

[1] The Ontario Human Rights Code, as well as the Township of Armour Workplace Violence Policy and Workplace Harassment Policy, applies to the conduct of all.

#### RULE NO. 14 - TRANSPARENCY AND OPENNESS IN DECISION MAKING

- 14.1 Members shall endeavour to conduct and convey Council business and all their duties in an open and transparent manner other than for those decisions which by virtue of legislation are authorized to be dealt with in a confidential manner in closed session, so that stakeholders can observe the process and rationale which was used to reach decisions, and the reasons for taking certain actions.
- 14.2 Members shall accurately communicate the decisions of Municipal Council, even if they disagree with the majority decision of Council, and by doing so affirm the respect for and integrity in the decision-making processes of Council.
- 14.3 A Member may state that they did not support a decision or voted against a decision. However, Members shall refrain from making disparaging comments about other Members or about Council's processes and decisions.
- 14.4 When communicating with the public, a Member shall at all times refrain from speculating or reflecting upon the motives of other Members in respect of their actions as a Member of Council.

#### RULE NO. 15 – FAILURE TO ADHERE TO COUNCIL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

- 15.1 Members of Council are required to observe the terms of all policies and procedures adopted by Council.
- 15.2 This provision does not prevent a Member of Council from requesting that Council grant an exemption from a policy.

#### RULE NO. 16 – REPRISALS AND OBSTRUCTION

- 16.1 Any reprisal or threat of reprisal against a complainant or anyone providing relevant information to the Integrity Commissioner is prohibited.
- 16.2 It is a violation of the *Code of Conduct* to obstruct the Integrity Commissioner in the carrying out of their responsibilities through, for example, the destruction of documents or the erasing of electronic communications.
- 16.3 Members shall respect the integrity of the *Code of Conduct* and any investigations conducted under it.

#### RULE NO. 17 – ACTING ON THE ADVICE OF THE INTEGRITY COMMISSIONER

17.1 Any written advice given by the Integrity Commissioner to a Member binds the Integrity Commissioner in any subsequent consideration of the conduct of the Member, as long as all of the relevant facts known to the Member were disclosed to the Integrity Commissioner.

#### **RULE NO. 18 – COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT**

- 18.1 Sub-section 223.3(5) of the Municipal Act authorizes Council to impose either of two penalties on a Member of Council or a local board following a report by the Integrity Commissioner that, in their opinion, there has been a violation of the *Code of Conduct*:
  - a. A reprimand; or
  - b. Suspension of the remuneration paid to the Member in respect of their services as a Member of Council or the local board, as the case may be, for a period of up to 90 days.
- 18.2 For remedial purposes, the Integrity Commissioner may also recommend that Council or a local board take the following actions:
  - a. Revocation of a Member's membership on a committee or local board;
  - b. Removal of a Member from the Chair of a committee or local board:
  - c. Repayment or reimbursement of monies received;
  - d. Return of property or reimbursement of its value; or
  - e. A request for an apology to Council, the complainant, or both.

Cor	nm	en	tary	
-----	----	----	------	--

[1] Members of Council are accountable to the public through the four-year election process. Between elections, they may become disqualified and lose their seat if, for example, they are convicted of an offence under the *Criminal Code* of Canada or for failing to declare a conflict of personal interest under the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act*.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNATURE**

	knowledges receipt of a copy of the Council Code of
Conduct Policy.	
Signature of Elected Official	Date of Signature

### Appendix "A" to the Code of Conduct Township of Armour Council-Staff Protocol

#### INTRODUCTION

Members of Council and staff of the Municipality are both servants of the public and they are indispensable to one another. The Council directs the business of the Municipality and passes by-laws, or resolutions as appropriate, for decisions adopted by Council. The Township of Armour's Council Staff Protocol sets out guidelines and ground rules for the effective interaction of Municipal Council and staff members in the governing and management of the municipality.

Council has delegated responsibility to the Clerk for the administration of the affairs of the Municipality in accordance with the by-laws adopted. This means that under the direction of the Clerk, staff have the responsibility and the authority to provide consultation, advice and direction to Council and to implement Council-approved policy. Accordingly, staff establish the appropriate administrative directives, procedures, systems, structures and internal controls to implement the goals and objectives of Council, and to manage implementation within the resources at their disposal.

Role clarification and sensitivity to the difference between the roles played by Council and staff are fundamental to the success of our working relationships. Both Council and staff have a responsibility to understand their role and follow the Council-Staff Protocol accordingly. Both Council and staff are expected to enhance public education by providing context and process information about decision-making. Council and staff are required to work together towards policy development and implementation while understanding the various roles and expectations necessary for a highly effective working relationship.

Council and staff operate within a very complex environment. Therefore, some flexibility is required. Maintaining mutual respect between Municipal staff and Council Members is the only way to foster highly effective working relationships. Defining roles and expectations in advance helps achieve effective relationships that are equitable and without favouritism. Council and staff demonstrate respect by refraining from expressing criticism of each other in public or through public communications regardless of the medium.

#### **SCOPE**

This Council-Staff protocol applies to all Members of Municipal Council and Municipal staff, and members of boards and staff of related agencies, boards, and commissions.

Council and Staff will review the Council-Staff Protocol at the beginning of each new term of Council (at least once every four years) and incorporate any necessary amendments.

#### **ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND EXPECTATIONS**

#### General

The core values held by Members of Council, committees, or local boards and Municipal staff are *integrity, ethics, accountability, responsibility, service, service quality, trust,* and *leadership*. These values will be reflected in policy decisions, policy implementation, and will form a vital part of the Township of Armour's everyday operation.

In order to best embody these values, the jointly-held responsibilities of all Members of Council, committees, or local boards and Municipal staff are as follows:

- [a] Demonstrate commitment to communication and consultation among ourselves and with the general public.
- [b] Show leadership, relying on our knowledge and judgment, and respond based upon our areas of expertise.
- [c] Maintain confidentiality at in-camera, committee and other meetings.

#### The Reeve

*The Reeve, for example:* 

- [a] Is the Chief Executive Officer of the Municipality;
- [b] Carries out the duties of the head of Council under the Municipal Act or any other Act;
- [c] sees that the laws for the government of the Corporation are duly executed and obeyed;
- [d] oversees the conduct of the subordinate officers in the government and administration and sees that all proven negligence, carelessness and violation of duty are dealt with;
- [e] communicates information and recommendations to the Council from time to time that will tend to the improvement of the government;
- [f] presides at all meetings of Council and ensures that all proceedings and conduct are enacted in accordance with the Procedure By-Law so that the business of Council can be carried out efficiently and effectively;
- [g] may summon a special meeting of the Council within a specified time period, as well as when requested to do so in writing by a majority of Members;
- [h] represents the views and interest of the Municipality, its residents and taxpayers at a variety of official, public, ceremonial and intergovernmental events; and
- [i] signs all By-laws and may sign debentures and promissory notes on behalf of the municipality.

#### Council

#### *The Whole Council, for example:*

- [a] exercises the authority delegated by the provincial legislature to the municipality and does not possess authority separate to that derived from provincial statue;
- [b] is the legislative arm of the municipality and makes laws, determines property taxation levels, allocates expenditures and holds civic staff accountable by providing them with direction, assigning resources and monitoring policy decisions as implemented by staff;
- [c] must have a quorum in order to vote to amend or enact by-laws;
- [d] in a Committee-of-the-Whole meets as a general Committee to discuss and vote on which recommendations shall be forwarded to Council for subsequent decision;
- [e] may sub-delegate administrative authority where the delegation does not entail power to determine or adjudicate rights; make policy; or take legislative action;
- [f] receives all reports of all Committees and other designated bodies for their acceptance, amendment, deferral as the Council deems appropriate;
- [g] holds regular and special meetings of Council in open sessions; a Committee-of- the-Whole meeting in open or closed session for legal, personnel or property matters of a sensitive nature;
- [h] may not amend or pass any by-law where Council meets as a Committee-of-the-Whole; and
- [i] follows the procedures it establishes in the Council Procedure By-law.

#### Councillors generally, for example:

- [a] represent the views of the public and exercise judgment to make decisions on behalf of them;
- [b] respond to resident inquiries or refer such inquiries to appropriate staff or other organizations and generally provide assistance to constituents;
- [c] participate in Council meetings and undertake the activities within the authority, operations and procedures of Council as outlined in (a) above;
- [d] choose among alternatives and reconcile conflict among competing priorities;
- [e] stay informed and keep up to date;
- [f] in Council, correct deficiencies in the system; and
- [g] in Council, determine the overall system and structure of the Corporation.

#### Committees of Council, as a Whole, for example:

- [a] request reports as required to aid in their decisions on recommendations to Council;
- [b] report and make recommendations to Council on policy matters referred to them;
- [c] provide access to public communication and deputation on matters within their purview; and
- [d] examine all accounts connected with discharging its duties or under its supervision in accordance with the *Procedure By-law*, the *Purchasing By-law*, and other by-laws.

#### Council Committee Chairs, for example:

[a] review, identify and prepare agenda items and priorities with Department Heads and the Office of the Clerk as appropriate;

- [b] ensure program policies and priorities are established by the Committee;
- [c] are often called upon at Council to answer questions on Committee recommendations;
- [d] conduct meetings, provide direction, ensure fair and open discussion of agenda items in accordance with established procedures; and
- [e] may call special meetings of the Committee when the Chair or Members feel it is necessary to do so.

Council Members on Agencies, Boards and Commission, generally:

- [a] perform as part of a Board, most of the same roles as Standing Committees;
- [b] balance their role as the custodian of the Municipality's tax dollars and representative of Council policies, with that of their fiduciary and other duties as a Board Member;
- [c] provide specialized advice and expertise to aid in decision making; and
- [d] provide an essential link between the body and Council such that Council positions can be conveyed to the body and vice-versa.

The expectations of Council, its committees, and its Members in fulfilling the above roles and responsibilities are as follows:

- [a] govern and provide/set clear political direction;
- [b] establish the municipality's vision and goals, and define needs and outcomes to be achieved through empowerment and effective staff performance;
- [c] act as a whole in developing policy;
- [d] respond to constituents concerns, keep Municipal staff members informed, be open to discussion and ask for clarification when needed;
- [e] understand that individual Council Members represent Council as a whole in the eyes of the public and staff members. Council Members have a responsibility to bring controversial decisions back to the whole Council;
- [f] refrain from providing individual direction to the Clerk to initiate any action or prepare any report of a significant nature, or initiate any project or study without the consent of the entire Council;
- [g] ask questions of staff members prior to the public meetings whenever possible;
- [h] refrain from attempting on an individual basis to change or interfere with the operations and practices of any Municipal department. Any questions or concerns related to operating rules and practices should be directed to the Supervisor of the department and any service requests should be directed to the Clerk;
- [i] be sensitive to staff workload and resources;
- [i] refrain from using administrative resources for political/personal purposes;
- [k] refrain from micro-managing;
- [l] be open-minded, supportive; staff are fallible;
- [m]praise publicly and criticize privately; and
- [n] respect administrative expertise; show respect.

#### Staff

#### Municipal Staff, for example:

- [a] provide timely and useful advice to Council and its Committees;
- [b] carry out specific directives, motions and policies approved or delegated to them by the Council;
- [c] follow the intent of Council directions;
- [d] alert Council to legal limitations of proposals, or changes in legislation, or unintended impacts of decisions;
- [e] administer the organization and are responsible for day-to-day tasks in operations management;
- [f] recommend policies, programs and budgets to Standing Committees and Council;
- [g] respond to public inquiries and advise on Council approved policies;
- [h] use allocated resources appropriately;
- [i] stay informed and up to date;
- [j] undertake research and report in findings;
- [k] evaluate staff assigned and correct any performance as required; and
- [I] encourage the development of all staff under their supervision.

The expectation of Municipal staff in fulfilling the above roles and responsibilities are as follows:

- [a] adhere to current Council approved policy;
- [b] accept that Council sets the agenda; refrain from directly or indirectly lobbying Council;
- [c] changes to policy should be formalized through reports to Municipal Council. Keep Council informed and do not blind side them (no surprises);
- [d] respect the limitations of the time of Council Members;
- [e] be respectful and patient; don't point fingers of blame toward Municipal Council;
- [f] provide factual, clear, timely and professional advice based upon professional judgment but also include a range of options where applicable;
- [g] provide high quality advice to Council based on political neutrality and objectivity irrespective of party politics, the loyalties of persons in power, or their personal opinions;
- [h] respect Council's political decisions and refrain from making public any personal comments related to those decisions; and
- [i] address Council questions on a timely basis and seek clarification when necessary and where appropriate.